## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

TODD MICHAEL MENDYK,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APR 25 1988 CASE NO. 71,507 1 Dysometric

- pagag Gerk

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PAGE NO.

TABLE OF (	CONTENTS	
TABLE OF C	CITATIONS	
STATEMENT	OF THE CASE	1
STATEMENT	OF THE FACTS	3
SUMMARY OF	F ARGUMENTS	12

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 16, 1987, the grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant with first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1985). (R1325) On May 4, 1987, the state filed an information charging Appellant with one count of kidnapping in violation of Section 787.01(1), Florida Statutes (1985) and two counts of sexual battery in violation of Section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (1985). (R1692-1693) On May 12, 1987, Appellant filed a motion to quash the information. (R1704-1705) Thereafter on May 29, 1987, the state filed a motion to consolidate the information and indict-(R1338-1339,1704-1705) Both sides filed memoranda of law. ment. (R1347-1348,1349-1351,1713-1714,1715-1717) The trial court denied the motion to quash and granted the state's motion to consolidate. (R1365,1726,1727) Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions including a motion for additional peremptory challenges

- 1 -

(R1393-1394), motion for change of venue (R1753-1756) and a motion to suppress statements. (R1759-1762) The motion for additional peremptories was denied. (R444) The motion for change of venue was granted. (R1546) The motion to suppress was granted in part and denied in part. (R1970-1971) Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on October 8-20, 1987, with the Honorable L.R. Huffstetler, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. (R1-1297) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (R1192-1193,1508,1854-1856) Following presentation of evidence at the penalty phase, the jury returned a unanimous recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R1291,1509) Appellant filed a motion for new trial. (R1544-1545) This motion was denied. (R1578) On November 10, 1987, Appellant appeared before Judge Huffstetler who adjudicated him guilty of all four offenses and sentenced Appellant to death for the murder charge. (R1575-1576,1553-1557) As to the remaining charges, Appellant's presumptive guidelines sentence was 17-22 years. (R1869) However, Judge Huffstetler sentenced Appellant to three consecutive life sentences. (R1576-1577,1863-1868) Reasons for departure were typed at the bottom of the scoresheet. (R1869) Written findings of fact in support of the death sentence were filed. (R1558-1561) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on November 23, 1987. (R1563,1871) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R1552,1861, 1877,1568)

- 2 -

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 8-9, 1987, Lee Ann Larmon was working as a clerk at the Presto Store in Brooksville, Florida. (R495,660) James Duncan stopped by the store between 2:45 a.m. and 3:00 a.m. at which time Lee Ann was working. (R495) Corporal Carlos Douglas of the Hernando County Sheriff's Department had seen Lee Ann at 11:00 p.m. but when he returned to the Presto Store at 2:55 a.m. Lee Ann was not at the store. (R499-500) Douglas noticed that the floor was partially wet, a still warm hamburger was on the counter and Lee Ann's purse was behind the counter. There was no evidence of a struggle in the store. (R508) (R501) Douglas called for a back-up unit. (R501) Gary Kimble, a civilian crime scene technician with the Hernando County Sheriff's Department responded to the Presto Store, took photographs of the area, gathered the clerk's belongings, and processed the scene for fingerprints. (R512) Three latent prints were lifted from the interior of the front door and from the timer button on (R517-518) On the morning of April 9, 1987, the microwave oven. Lieutenant Gerald Calhoun conducted an aerial search for Lee Ann (R530) Approximately 5.6 miles south of the Presto Larmon. Store on the west side of U.S. 19, Calhoun observed a blue pick-up truck and a light blue mid-sized car parked about 100 yards apart in the woods approximately one-half mile west of U.S. There was a white male standing to the rear of the 19. (R531) truck and a white female standing next to the car. (R531-532) Calhoun radioed to have someone investigate. (R532) Deputy Joseph Testa responded to the area and observed a blue Buick

- 3 -

occupied by Norma Jean Frantz. (R543-544) About 100 yards south of the Frantz vehicle, Testa located a blue 1974 Ford pick-up truck. (R544) Two white males identified as Philip Frantz and Appellant, Todd Mendyk, were near the pick-up. (R545) Appellant told Testa they had been mudslinging the night before when the pick-up got stuck in the mud. (R545) Appellant further stated they would get the truck out of the mud without assistance. (R546) When Testa advised Calhoun of his findings, Calhoun observed that the truck was not properly equipped for mudslinging and instructed Testa to fill out field investigation cards on the individuals. (R534,546) Calhoun resumed his search and followed tire tracks from the pick-up some 100 yards away to a cul-de-sac where he located a body lying in a fetal position with electrical wires around the neck, wrists and feet. (R535,538) Calhoun instructed Testa to arrest the individuals at the pick-up truck. (R546-547) Frantz was arrested, given his Miranda rights, frisked, handcuffed and transported to the Sheriff's office. (R547) Appellant was also arrested, advised of his rights, frisked, handcuffed and taken to the Sheriff's office. (R551-552) The truck was sealed and taken to a garage for storing. (R555-556) A latent print lifted from the inside rear-view mirror matched the right thumb print of Frantz. (R570-571) The latent print lifted from the timer button on the microwave oven in the store matched the left index fingerprint of Appellant. (R577)

Doctor John Sass, the associate medical examiner, determined that Lee Ann died between 3:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. (R721) The immediate cause of death was strangulation. (R723)

- 4 -

The victim suffered an insignificant knife wound to the throat. (R715) There was no evidence of trauma to the vaginal area. (R724) However, a stick could have been inserted into the vagina without necessarily causing trauma. (R732) There was no positive test for semen in either the vaginal swabbings or the mouth swabbings. (R725) Although the victim may have taken several minutes to die she probably lost consciousness instantaneously when the wires were wrapped around her throat. (R726)

John Smith who lived with Philip Frantz testified that on April 8, 1987, Frantz and Appellant were at the house with several others. (R778) Although they were drinking and smoking marijuana, neither Frantz nor Appellant were intoxicated. (R775,778) Frantz and Appellant left the house at 11:00 p.m. (R74) Approximately two to three weeks earlier Appellant mentioned grabbing a girl and tying her up. (R775) The remark was made off-the-cuff and Appellant did not seem serious. (R776)

An analysis of the vacuum sweepings from the pick-up truck revealed head hair and pubic hair matching those of the victim. (R819-820) The head hair had been forcibly removed. (R819) Hairs removed from a stick found in the area were compared with the victim's pubic hair and, although similar, there were insufficient characteristics to make a conclusive match. (R828-830)

Philip Frantz had pled guilty to first degree murder, kidnapping. and sexual battery and received three concurrent life sentences in return for which he agreed to testify truthfully against Appellant. (R973) Frantz knew Appellant for nearly 8

- 5 -

months and saw him nearly every day during which they drank beer and smoked marijuana. (R974) They did so on the evening of April 8, 1987. (R974) At about 11:00 p.m., they picked up a six-pack of beer and went to Brooksville in Appellant's 1974 blue Ford pick-up. (R975) They were looking for a girl named Karen but could not find her house so they went to a friend's house. (R975-976) No one answered their knocks at Eddie Craven's house. (R976) When they tried to leave, the truck battery was dead. (R976) They tried cleaning the terminals without success, so they decided to steal a battery. (R977) While they were putting in the new battery, Eddie Craven and Kenny Landry jumped out of the bushes and scared them. (R977) They all went inside Eddie's house and smoked some marijuana. (R977) They left after  $\frac{1}{2}$  hour and Frantz drove to the Presto Store because Appellant was hungry for a hamburger. (R978-979) As they got out of the truck, Appellant said "Let's get the bitch" but Frantz did not take him seriously. (R979) Appellant got a hamburger and put it in the A man came in, got some coffee and left. microwave. (R980) (R980) Appellant asked the clerk for some onions and relish. (R980-981) As the clerk came around the counter to show Appellant where the relish was, Appellant stepped behind her, grabbed her around the neck and led her outside to the truck. (R981) The girl asked what they were doing but did not put up a fight. (R982) Appellant ordered her to get on the floor which she also (R982) Appellant told Frantz to drive to Shady Hills and did. as they drove Appellant unbuttoned the girl's shirt. (R982) The girl asked what they were doing and Appellant replied that they

- 6 -

were taking her away. (R983) The girl asked to be taken back to the store but Appellant told her to shut up. (R983) The girl seemed very scared (R983) Appellant unbuttoned the girl's shirt and unhooked her bra. (R983) Appellant cut some speaker wire from the truck's stereo and tied the girl's hands together in front of her. (R984) Appellant started fondling the girl's breasts. (R984) Frantz reached over and touched the girl's left breast. (R984) When the girl asked if she was going to be killed, Appellant said "No, just be a good girl and everything will be all right." (R984) The girl then said if they planned on raping her that she was on her period. (R984) When they got to the Shady Hills area on the Pasco/Hernando County line, Appellant directed Frantz to an area on a dirt road. (R985) However, the area was enclosed with a fence which was chained and locked and posted with "No trespassing" signs. (R985) They headed back and drove to Suzanne Lane about ½ mile off U.S. 19. (R986) Both Frantz and Appellant were familiar with the area. (R987) They went about a  $\frac{1}{2}$  mile until the trail got pretty muddy. (R987) At Appellant's instructions, Frantz backed the truck into a small area among the trees and parked. (R988) Because of the battery problem, Frantz left the truck running but only left the running lights on. (R989) They got out of the truck and Appellant led the girl to the back of the truck. (R989) Appellant got a sawhorse out of the back of the truck. (R989) Frantz had a knuckle knife in the truck which Appellant (R989-990) Appellant removed all of the girl's picked up. clothes except her panties and socks. (R990) The girl was

- 7 -

crying and asking to be taken back to the store. (R990-991) Appellant told the girl to step over the sawhorse and spread her legs after which Appellant tied each leg to the legs of the sawhorse and the girl's hands to the crossbar using wire he got from the truck. (R991-992) Appellant cut the girl's panties off with the knife and then went to the truck where he retrieved a billy club. (R992) Appellant confirmed that the girl was indeed having her menstrual period. (R992) Appellant tried to insert the billy club into the girl's vagina but it would not fit. (R993) Appellant went to the truck, got a broom handle and inserted it into the girl's vagina. (R993) Appellant went to the truck and got a cigarette. (R994) Appellant then untied the girl's hands and ordered her to perform oral sex on him. (R994) This lasted fifteen minutes during which the broom handle remained inserted in the girl's vagina. (R994) After apparently ejaculating, Appellant ordered the girl to swallow and walked back to the truck and smoked another cigarette. (R995) Appellant asked Frantz if he was going to have oral sex but since he was feeling sick, Frantz declined. (R995) As Appellant smoked the cigarette, he and Frantz discussed leaving. (R995) Appellant untied the girl and led her to a tree. (R995) The girl was tied between two trees with her back arched. (R996-997) Frantz went to the girl and kissed her breasts. (R997) He thought about raping her but felt ill so he turned and walked away. (R997) Appellant picked up the girl's panties and stuffed them into her mouth. (R998) She spit them out and asked if they were going to leave her like that. (R998) Appellant said yes and

- 8 -

stuffed the panties back into her mouth. (R998) Appellant got a bandana from the truck and used it to gag the girl. (R998) Appellant wanted to drive so Frantz got in the passenger side and Appellant got in the driver's seat and they drove away. (R998) Before leaving, they picked up the sawhorse and the girl's clothes and put them in the truck except for the girl's shirt which Frantz draped over her shoulders. (R999) As they drove down the road, Appellant went too far to the right and the truck dropped off the side of the road and got stuck. (R999) They got out and tried to push the truck without success. (R999) Appellant tried stuffing pieces of wood under the tires but again was unsuccessful. (R999-1000) Appellant said he was going back to check on the girl and was gone for about five minutes. (R1000) When he returned, they broke up some sawhorses and tried to put the wood under the tires. (R1001) After working for about 45 minutes, Appellant walked toward the girl and said "I'm going to have to kill her." (R1003) Frantz asked why but Appellant did not answer. (R1003) Frantz tried without success (R1003) Appellant returned and said to jack up the truck. "She's done" and when Frantz asked how, Appellant told him he had strangled the girl, cut her down and dragged her into the bushes. (R1004) Frantz took all of the girl's clothes, the billy club and the broomstick and threw them into the swamp. (R1005) They locked up the truck and walked about one mile to the UHL Plaza where they made some phone calls in an effort to get the truck (R1005) Appellant asked Frantz if there was blood on him towed. since as he strangled the girl she spit up blood. (R1006)

- 9 -

Frantz saw no blood. (R1006) They made three phone calls but were unsuccessful in getting anyone to help them. (R1007) They decided to walk to Frantz's mother's house where he had a comealong which is a tool to lift heavy objects. (R1007) When they got there, Frantz's mother woke up and agreed to take them back to the truck. (R1008) They got the come-along and returned to the truck. (R1008) Appellant and Frantz got out and tried to hook up the come along but were unable because it was not long enough to reach the nearest tree. (R1008) They asked Frantz's mother to pull her car down so they could hook up the come-along to it but she refused since she was afraid it would damage the car. (R1009) They returned home where Frantz got two heavy-duty orange extension cords after which they returned to the truck. (R1009) As Frantz tied the electrical cord around the tree, Appellant went back to check on the girl's body. (R1009) After five minutes, Appellant returned and said the body was rigid and turning gray. (R1009) The extension cord broke. (R1010) A Sheriff's helicopter was flying overhead and five minutes later a deputy drove up and asked them what they were doing. (R1010) Forty-five minutes later they were arrested. (R1011)

When Appellant was initially questioned after he was arrested, he said he and Frantz had dinner at his parents' house after which they went to the swampy area where they went mud bogging. (R1049) The truck got stuck in the mud and after trying unsuccessfully for about one hour to pull the truck out of the mud, Appellant and Frantz walked to UHL Plaza and made several phone calls. (R1049) They eventually got Frantz's

- 10 -

mother to help them. (R1049) Appellant denied having been to any convenience store and did not mention the girl's death. (R1050) Later, however, Appellant gave a statement admitting to the murder. (R1053) Appellant had known Frantz for several months and was trying to indoctrinate him into the theories of domination of women, bondage, and the Satanic Bible. (R1055) As they drove around that night, the idea of abducting a woman came up so they stopped at the Presto store where the clerk appeared to be a good target. (R1056) When the clerk came from behind the counter, Appellant grabbed her and hit her. (R1056) Appellant described what had occurred which coincided with Frantz's testimony. (R1057-1066) After the truck got stuck, Appellant returned to where the girl was and had a conversation with her. (R1067) When he returned to the truck, Appellant was 50-50 toward letting the girl live. (R1069) Appellant and Frantz discussed taking the girl somewhere and keeping her for a few days. (R1069) However, they realized there was nowhere to keep the girl so they went back with the idea of killing the girl. (R1070) Appellant then strangled the girl with a bandana and wire. (R1070-1071) Appellant cut her down and dragged her into the bushes. (R1072) To be sure that she was dead, Appellant stabbed the girl in the neck. (R1072) Subsequently Appellant indicated that he had no regrets about the murder because it was something that had to be done. (R1085,1093)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: During a custodial interrogation, once an accused invokes his right to an attorney all interrogation must cease. The police are prohibited from interrogating the suspect unless it is shown that the accused initiated the contact. In the instant case Appellant clearly invoked his right to counsel. Despite this clear implication Detective Decker reinitiated contact with Appellant and questioned him in a manner designed to elicit incriminating statements. These statements should be suppressed.

POINT II: When a grand jury considers a case and subsequently returns an indictment, the state is thereafter precluded from filing additional charges arrising out of the same subject matter previously considered by the grand jury.

POINT III: Where an accused faces trial on improperly consolidated charges he is entitled to additional peremptory challenges up to the maximum allowed as if the charges were tried separately. Further a trial court retains discretion to grant additional peremptory challenges should the need arise.

POINT IV: In the penalty phase of a capital trial, the state is precluded from presenting irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence which has no probative value with regard to statutory aggravating circumstances or rebutting expressly relied-upon mitigating circumstances. Additionally although use of the

- 12 -

standard jury instructions is encouraged, where such instructions do not adequately inform the jury of their duties during deliberation, it is error to deny special requested instructions which correctly state the law and are particularly applicable to the facts of a particular case.

POINT V: A capital felony is not especially heinous, atrocious or cruel unless it is accompanied by such additional acts so as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies. Actions which occur after the murder is complete are not to be considered in determining whether the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel.

In order to sustain a finding that a capital murder was cold, calculated and premeditated the state is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt something more than mere premeditation. It is insufficient to prove merely that an underlying felony was planned.

Where the only valid aggravating circumstance present is that the capital murder was committed during the commission of a felony and where a valid mitigating factor exists, proportionality requires that a death sentence be vacated and the cause remanded for imposition of a life sentence.

POINT VI: To sustain a departure from the recommended guideline sentence a trial court must supply clear and convincing reasons. Such reasons cannot include inherent components of the crimes for which an accused is being sentenced nor may it include factors

- 13 -

which are already scored. The fact that the defendant constitutes a danger to society is not a clear and convincing reason for departure. Where all the reasons for departure are invalid the trial court must resentence the defendant within the recommended guidelines range.

POINT VII: Although this Court has previously rejected numerous attacks to the constitutionality of the death penalty in Florida Appellant urges reconsideration particularly in light of the evolving body of case law which in some cases has served to invalidate the very basic cases on which the death penalty was upheld in the State of Florida.

### POINT I

IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTI-TUTION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS CON-FESSIONS WHICH WERE OBTAINED FOLLOWING HIS UNEQUIVOCAL REQUEST FOR COUNSEL

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