IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TODD MICHAEL MENDYK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 71,507

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 27 1988

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ELLEN D. PHILLIPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 486; 101 S.Ct. 1880, 1885, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981). The only question asked by Decker was, "What girl?", to which appellant responded "The girl from the Pick Quick Store." (R 1609). This question and answer were suppressed by the court (R 1661). After this, the only questions evidenced in this record relate to whether appellant was now waiving his right to counsel; appellant said he wanted to "Tell his side of

it" and proceeded to make a "statement" (R 1610). Apparently, Mendyk, while changing his clothes, just talked about the crime in his continuing soliloquy. Without evidence of interrogation, there was no basis for the court to suppress appellant's voluntary statement. Arizona v. Mauro, _____ U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 1931, 95 L.Ed.2d 458 (1987).

Even assuming arguendo some "interrogation" had taken place, appellant's responses are admissible because he specifically waived his right to counsel once again. The facts here are virtually identical to the situation in Kight v. State, (assuming appellant was interrogated). In Kight, the defendant made the statement that he was "not afraid of the chair." When an officer asked what chair he was talking about, Kight answered, "The electric chair because Hutto stabbed the [cab driver] and cut his throat and he's still got the man's watch." 512 So.2d at 925. While this court ruled that the question and answer should be suppressed, the subsequent interrogation in Kight was proper, because "Detective Weeks promptly interrupted Kight and advised him of his Miranda rights," which Kight waived. Id. Decker here immediately interrupted Mendyk to remind him of his right to counsel; Mendyk specifically waived his right to remain silent (R 1609), and specifically waived the presence of an attorney (R 1610-1611). Any subsequent interrogation

 $^{^2}$ There is some evidence in the trial itself of an occasional question interjected by Decker to clarify some point or other <u>e.g.</u>, (R 1063). These were not before the court at the suppression hearing, nor was particular objection raised at trial.

therefore admissible. Oregon v. Bradshaw; Kight v. State.

With respect to the guilt phase of the trial, appellee also suggests that introduction of Mendyk's April 9 confession would be harmless error, if it were error. The evidence against Mendyk, even excluding the April 9 statement, was conclusive and indisputable:

- 1. Mendyk was found at the scene.
- 2. Wire from Mendyk's truck matched wire binding the victim's hands, feet, and neck.
- 3. The soil on Mendyk's shoes matched that where the victim's body was dragged from the tree to the underbrush;
- 4. A hot hamburger was still on the counter of the convenience store, and Mendyk's fingerprint was on the microwave button;
- 5. The victim's hairs were found in Mendyk's truck;
- 6. A bandana similar to the victim's was in Mendyk's truck;
- 7. Tire tracks from Mendyk's truck ran from the place were it was stuck in the mud to a location adjacent to the body about 100 yards away;
- 8. Mendyk's co-defendant, Phillip Frantz, testified to the same facts and specifics as presented in Mendyk's confession, including Mendyk's hamburger in the microwave; seizing the victim; driving her to the swamp; binding her with wire to a saw horse; Mendyk's forcing the victim to perform oral sex upon him while bound to the sawhorse with a stick thrust in her vagina; hanging the victim from a tree (at the location where the drag marks were found); and Mendyk's description to

him (Frantz) of how he strangled the victim.

- 9. Stains on Mendyk's athletic supporter were consistent with a mixture of the victim's saliva and Mendyk's semen; evidence of semen remained in the victim's mouth.
- 10. Mendyk's admission that he intentionally murdered the victim made to Decker and Detective Corlew on April 10 was presented to the jury, which confession is not challenged in this appeal;
- 11. Mendyk's April 20 admission of guilt was presented to the jury, and not the subject of appeal³

In sum, Frantz related all the same information as Mendyk; overwhelming physical evidence corroborated Frantz in every detail; other confessions of Mendyk admitted guilt and expressed Mendyk's feelings that he had no problem about the murder, and would do it again. Exclusion of Mendyk's April 9 confession could have had no effect at all on the guilt phase of the trial.

With respect to the sentencing phase, two additional admissions were introduced. The first was a statement to Pasco Deputy Vaughn that Mendyk knew, before he walked in the door of the convenience store, that he and Frantz were going to kill the girl (R 1215). The second confession was when Mendyk asked Decker to come to the jail on April 21, 1987, to ask why Frantz

³ After Mendyk was in jail, he periodically asked to see Detective Decker, who then read Mendyk his rights, and spoke with him. Mendyk, in fact, personally sought in open court to exclude Decker from his blanket invocation of right to counsel, but the Public Defender insisted that Decker be included (R 1657). There was no motion or argument below regarding these later confessions, and Mendyk apparently does not challenge them in this appeal.

Miranda rights, (R 1201), Mendyk again admitted he and Frantz had talked about killing the girl right from the start, then discussed how he, Mendyk, would have accomplished his aim of abducting, abusing, and murdering the victim even without Frantz (R 1202-1205). This second highly incriminating confession of intent and premeditation was not challenged below on grounds discussed in this appeal⁴, and is not at issue here. Clearly, in view of Mendyk's similar and more extensive confessions not being challenged, the single statement to Vaughn was cumulative.

Appellant's April 9 confession to Decker was part of the evidence adopted in the penalty phase by both Mendyk and the state (R 1247-1248). Mendyk should not be heard to complain of use of his confession in the penalty phase, therefore, even assuming it should have been suppressed in the guilt phase. In addition, as noted above, the April 9 confession was proper, and, furthermore, was duplicated by other evidence in the cause. ⁵

Appellant's objection to the April 21 confession was: "We would be objecting to the statements because <u>Miranda</u> warnings were not given at a proper time." (R 1203). This objection appears not well taken and was overruled without argument; no such objection is raised in this appeal.

⁵ Mendyk's description of how he got an "incredible high" from strangling the victim after she begged for mercy is not duplicated, but was not necessary to the findings of aggravating factors, as discussed at pp. 24-26, infra.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO QUASH THE INFORMATION AND IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE.

Section 905.16, Florida Statutes (1987) provides:

905.16 Duties of grand jury. - The grand jury shall inquire into every offense triable within the county for which any person has been held to answer, if an indictment has not been found or an information or affidavit filed for the offense, and indictable other triable within the county that are presented to it by the state attorney or his designated assistant or otherwise come to its knowledge.

Contrary to appellant's bare allegation, nothing in this section requires the grand jury to indict or even consider every possible offense within its power to investigate. "Shall", in statutory construction, sometimes means "shall have power to ", and is discretionary rather than mandatory. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 308 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1974). It has always been the rule in Florida that "a grand jury may investigate" various offenses against the general welfare, State v. Interim Report of Grand Jury, 93 So.2d 99, 101 (Fla. 1957) (emphasis added); the grand jury would have an impossible task if it were required to do so.

In addition to this general investigatory power, the grand jury considers "all other indictable offenses triable within the county presented to it by the state attorney..." § 905.16, Fla. Stat. (1987). Here the state attorney only presented the murder offense. Moreover, even had the grand jury specifically

considered the kidnapping and sexual battery and specifically declined to indict on these offenses, this action is not an acquittal of any sort; a subsequent grand jury could still indict, State v. Mayo, 60 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1952), or the state attorney could still file an information for those crimes. State ex rel. Latour v. Stone, 185 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1939). the kidnapping and sexual battery were never presented to the grand jury by the state attorney in this case. Prosecution for those two crimes was at all times by information. Since the kidnapping and sexual battery are related to the murder (although taking place some hours earlier in the morning), it was proper to consolidate the offense. Rule 3.151, Fla. R. Crim. P. (1987). Related offenses charged by information may be consolidated with a murder prosecuted by indictment. Livingston v. State, 13 F.L.W. 187 (Fla. March 10, 1988); King v. State, 390 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1980).

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

As noted by appellant, Mendyk was accorded the appropriate number of peremptory challenges provided as by Florida See, § 913.08, Fla. Stat. (1987). Although the Rules of Criminal Procedure allow the trial judge discretion to permit additional peremptories upon a showing of prejudice, appellant, trial court, made not the slightest suggestion of Appellant's dissatisfaction with particular jurors discussed in his brief on appeal was never brought to the attention of the court below; from all indications in this record, Mendyk's objection below was strictly pro forma, without any argument (R 444). A number of jurors were backstruck by appellant, after already being accepted (R 419). In the trial court, Mendyk asked for more peremptories based strictly on his "previous arguments", (R 444), not upon any dissatisfaction with the jurors as chosen. After inquiry of juror Defoe by the court, Mendyk apparently abandoned his challenge, and agreed that the twelve jurors be sworn as they sat (R 445-446).

As noted above, Mendyk's only grounds for moving for additional peremptories was his motion and argument heard prior to any particular juror being chosen, which relied solely on the nature of the charges (R 1392). Appellant attempts to distinguish well-established caselaw by suggesting this case is unlike <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1981), where request for an excessive number of peremptories was properly rejected.

However, this case is exactly like <u>Parker v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984), where a defendant was charged with capital murder, sexual battery, and robbery. There is no error in failing to grant a defendant more challenges than those to which he is legally entitled based solely on these facts.

Although not necessary to deciding the issue, appellee notes a somewhat unusual aspect of this case is the fact that appellant had benefit of what could be considered a large number of peremptories prior to the actual jury being called. Nearly fifty jurors were questioned individually prior to the jury selection, because they had "personal excuses" (R 15-131). In this preliminary process, appellant and the state questioned jurors, discussed their excuses, and decided whether they wanted the juror on the panel. By this early "stipulated excusal" process, Mendyk relieved from jury service such persons as Mr. Ladd, who at one time was a jailer with the Polk County Sheriff's Office, (R 21-24), and Mr. Geiger, who had sat through a trial where a defendant had murdered Geiger's son (R 39-40). Not one juror was excused over Mendyk's objection; many were excused with his stipulation. It is clear that a fair and impartial jury was properly seated, and Mendyk can have no complaint.

POINT IV

APPELLANT WAS DENIED WHETHER PROCESS AT HIS SENTENCING PROCEEDING **BECAUSE** CERTAIN **EVIDENCE** WAS THE ADMITTED, AND BECAUSE TRIAL COURT DENIED CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

A. Introduction of a List of Titles of Books Seized from Appellant's Residence.

The motive for Mendyk's crimes was gratification of his desire for power over a woman. His satisfaction was achieved through her bondage, her rape and sexual abuse, and, finally, by the "incredible high" Mendyk achieved by strangling the victim to death. There are some instances where a sexual battery (and eventual murder) may be the result of an unplanned sexual impulse, see, e.g., Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1988); thus evidence was presented on this case to demonstrate the calculated nature of Mendyk's plan. Accord, Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987).

Frantz, appellant's co-defendant, testified appellant stated "let's grab this bitch" when they stopped at the convenience store (R 979). Two or three weeks prior, Mendyk similarly mentioned grabbing a girl and tying her up (R 775-776). Appellant, apparently, had read up on his subject of interest, i.e., bondage and subjugation of women, as evidenced by a variety of pornographic books located in his home and bedroom. A list of titles of a few of these books was submitted to the jury. One

⁶ The list of about twelve books, (R 1540), is far from all-inclusive of the materials found in Mr. Mendyk's home. Officers seized a bag containing 39

of the books even included a description of tying a victim to a sawhorse, presumably the source of Mendyk's inspiration here.

factor The aggravating of a cold, calculated. and premeditated murder focuses upon the mental state of the Johnson v. State, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla. Evidence of defendant's sexual motivations and state of mind is proper relevant evidence in a case of rape and murder. Alford v. State, 307 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1975). Appellant claims that the materials seized from his home do not provide evidence of Mendyk's motivation and plan in the absence of a showing that he actually read the books. However, the jury was read only a list of titles, not the contents of the books. Appellant certainly saw the titles of books in his own bedroom. Whether he read them or not, the titles alone demonstrate appellant's state of mind and area of interest. Furthermore, the presence of the books allows an inference appellant read them; the fact that the state could not "prove" appellant read all the books goes to the weight of this evidence, not admissibility. In Irazarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1986), for example, two machetes were admissible evidence where they were connected to the defendant, even though neither was the actual murder weapon, where the victim was killed Irizarry's interest and connection to machetes with a machete. was sufficient for the machetes to be admissible. The state

pornographic magazines; another bag with 11 books, 27 pornographic magazines, and folder of cut-out nudes; and a third bag with 29 pornographic magazines, pink cord, and a plastic tube (R 1719).

could offer proof of appellant's sexual motivation, and his previously established interest in bondage, etc., to establish the calculated and premeditated nature of this crime. See, Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1985) (evidence of defendant's method of "rolling" homosexuals to get money); Alford v. State.

Lastly, assuming evidence of Mendyk's sexual motivation was improper, any impact a list of book titles could have had is clearly inconsequential in view of appellant's acts. inconceivable that a jury could be so influenced by a list of book titles that they would sentence a man to death when they otherwise would not. The is likewise inconceivable that any recommend for rational jury would not death premeditated and palpably evil as this. This jury convicted Mendyk in record time, (R 1191), and recommended death 12-0. Evidence of a non-statutory aggravating nature can be harmless. Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987).

B. Denial of Requested Jury Instructions

In addition to his objection to the book title evidence, appellant includes under this point on appeal his claim of error in denying six of his twenty special requested jury instructions.

1. Defense Instruction # 6.

This requested instruction⁸ does not correctly state the

⁷ The nature of the evidence distinguishes Dougan v. State, 470 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1985), relied upon by appellant. In Dougan, evidence of another <u>murder</u> by the defendant was improperly introduced, which could hardly be harmless.

⁸ "The state may not rely upon a single aspect of the offense to establish more than a single aggravating circumstance. Therefore, if you find that two or more of the aggravating circumstances are supported by a single aspect of

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